IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

JAMES A. WILSON,)
)
Appellee,) Case No. 2015-2081
) Case No. 2016-0180
)
v.)
) On Appeal from Cuyahoga County
WILLIAM LAWRENCE, Executor,) Court of Appeals, Eighth
) Appellate District
)
Appellant.)
) Court of Appeals
) Case No. 15-102585
)
)

**CONSOLIDATED MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLANT WILLIAM LAWRENCE,
EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF JOSEPH T. GORMAN, IN JURISDICTIONAL
APPEAL CASE NO. 2015-2081 AND CERTIFIED CONFLICT CASE NO. 2016-0180**

James A. Goldsmith (0021899)
Matthew T. Wholey (0086550), *counsel of record*
ULMER & BERNE LLP
Skylight Office Tower
1660 West 2nd Street, Suite 1100
Cleveland, OH 44113-1448
Tel: (216) 583-7000
Fax: (216) 583-7001

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. The Trial Court Proceedings.

On November 14, 2013, James Wilson (“Wilson” or “Appellee”) filed a single-count complaint for breach of contract against William Lawrence in his capacity as the Executor of the Estate of Joseph T. Gorman (the “Estate” or “Appellant”). (R.1.)¹

The Estate moved to dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that the Complaint failed to allege that Wilson had met the statutory prerequisites under Rev. Code § 2117.06(A)-(C) for filing a civil complaint against a decedent’s estate— i.e., presentment of the plaintiff’s claim in writing to the executor within six-months of Mr. Gorman’s death. (R.6.) In response to the Estate’s motion, Wilson’s trial counsel explained, in a sworn affidavit, that he failed to send a written notice of his claim to Mr. Lawrence prior to the six month deadline because, he claimed, he could not determine who the executor of Mr. Gorman’s estate was (R.8; Appellant’s Supplement at Supp-1-Supp-2.) Viewing the Estate’s defense as one better suited for summary judgment, the Trial Court denied the motion to dismiss. (R.14.) Thereafter, the Estate answered (R.15), and the parties engaged in discovery.

On September 8, 2014, the Estate moved for summary judgment on Wilson’s Complaint on the grounds that the undisputed evidence demonstrated that Wilson failed to present his claim in writing to the executor of the Estate within the six-month deadline mandated

¹ The record entries are referred to herein as R.1, R.2, and so on to correspond with numbering set forth in the transcript of Docket and Journal Entries supplied to the Court of Appeals by the Court of Common Pleas on February 24, 2015. Those entries are reflected in the Court of Appeals’ Index entry number 2, the “Original Papers” filed with the Court of Appeals. Entries in the Court of Appeals’ Index are referred to herein as I.1, I.2, and so on.

by Rev. Code § 2117.06(A)-(C). (R.18.) Wilson opposed the motion, the Estate filed a reply, and on December 16, 2014, briefing closed. (R.24-26.)²

On January 27, 2015, the Trial Court granted summary judgment to the Estate, holding that Wilson failed to present his claim to the Estate in accordance with the procedure required by Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A)-(C). (R.27.) In its decision, the Trial Court explained that Wilson’s letter, “addressed and delivered to two individuals who were not in fact personal representatives of the decedent’s estate was not legally sufficient as a matter of law under R.C. 2117.06.” (R.27.) The Trial Court held that the “letter does not factually or legally amount to notice of a claim to the executor in writing.” (*Id.*) Thereafter, Wilson appealed to the Eighth District Court of Appeals.

B. The Facts of the Case.

The relevant facts in this case are undisputed. Wilson seeks damages for the alleged breach of a contract that he entered into with the decedent, Joseph T. Gorman, for the sale of a 15% interest in Marine 1, LLC (“Marine”) to Mr. Gorman. (R.1. ¶¶5-10; *id.* Ex. 1 at 3.)³

1. Wilson Enters into a Contract with Decedent Joseph T. Gorman for the Purchase of Stock in Marine, and Gorman Allegedly Fails to Pay as Required Under the Contract.

Wilson and Mr. Gorman executed the contract in September of 2011. (*See* Wilson Dep. 26:10-21; *see also id.* Ex. A at 1.) The contract called for payment in two phases: an initial payment of \$100,000 at or near the time of the closing and quarterly payments of

² Wilson also sought summary judgment on his Complaint. (R.23.) The Trial Court denied his motion. (R.27.)

³ Despite the fact that Marine has never “made money” and has made no “dividends” or “distributions . . . as a profit share” to any of its shareholders, Wilson convinced Mr. Gorman to purchase the interest in Marine for \$300,000. (*See* Deposition of James Wilson (“Wilson Dep.”), Ex. 1 to R.18, 24:7-25:1.) After selling those shares to Mr. Gorman, Wilson remains a 10% owner of Marine; as of the time of his deposition, Wilson had received no dividends or distributions from Marine based on that ownership interest. (*Id.*)

\$50,000 for two years thereafter. (*Id.* 27:3-17.) The first \$100,000 was paid in full. (*Id.* 27:18-20.) Mr. Gorman did not make quarterly payments, however, “as specified in th[e] contract,” and, according to Wilson, “sent monthly installments instead,” thereby “breach[ing] the contract.” (*Id.* 28:2-7.) Thus, according to Wilson, Mr. Gorman allegedly breached the contract in the first quarter of 2012 and remained in breach through the rest of that year. (*Id.* 29:16-24.)⁴

2. Mr. Gorman Dies, and Wilson and his Trial Counsel Contact Mr. Gorman’s Former Secretary to Inquire About How to Present His Claim Against Mr. Gorman’s Estate.

Mr. Gorman died on January 20, 2013. (R.1 ¶2; Wilson Dep. 34:21-35:4, 35:16-18.) Wilson learned of Mr. Gorman’s death when Scott Snow, a mutual friend and another shareholder of Marine, called him “right after [Mr. Gorman] died.” (Wilson Dep. 34:24-35:1.) “[W]ithin 90 days of Mr. Gorman’s death,” Wilson hired his trial counsel to assist him in presenting his breach of contract claim against the Estate. (*Id.* at 38:16-39:2.)

Wilson rarely communicated directly with Mr. Gorman regarding the amounts outstanding under the contract while Mr. Gorman was alive; instead, he communicated primarily with Patricia Clark, Gorman’s personal secretary, via email. (*Id.* 32:22-34:1.)⁵ Wilson claimed below that, after Gorman died, he contacted Ms. Clark, an administrative assistant with no legal training, to ask “what should be [his] next move” in light of Gorman’s death. (*Id.* 49:6-50:11.)⁶

⁴ In spite of that alleged breach, Wilson took no action in 2012 to enforce the terms of the contract. (Wilson Dep. 64-74; *id.* Ex. G.)

⁵ He also claimed that he communicated with Mr. Gorman’s accountant regarding “setting up the payment” of the installments that Mr. Gorman made on the contract. (Wilson Dep. 34:2-9.) Wilson never identified any other individuals connected to Mr. Gorman with whom he claims to have communicated regarding the allegedly outstanding debt under the contract.

⁶ Although Wilson’s alleged conversations with Ms. Clark do not excuse his failure to present his claim, Wilson produced no evidence that any of those alleged conversations with Ms. Clark ever occurred. (Wilson Dep. 64:10-68:24.) During Ms. Clark’s deposition, she could not recall those conversations with specificity. (Deposition of Patricia Clark (“Clark Dep.”), Ex. 2 to R.18, 35:16-35:24.)

Wilson and his trial counsel claimed below that they relied on those alleged, post-death conversations with Mr. Gorman's secretary in attempting to present the claim against the Estate. In fact, trial counsel asked Ms. Clark during her deposition if she recalled a "telephone conversation . . . concerning who [trial counsel] should contact about presenting a claim" against the Estate. (Clark Dep. 35:16-22.) It was Wilson's position at the Trial Court level that by contacting Ms. Clark and asking for her legal advice, he and his trial counsel sufficiently investigated how to present his claim.

3. Wilson and his Trial Counsel Attempt to Present his Claim Against the Estate.

After allegedly conferring with Ms. Clark about how to present the claim, Wilson and trial counsel made three attempts to present the claim to the Estate:

- (1) A letter, dated July 11, 2013, addressed *only* to Randall S. Myeroff, the Trustee of Mr. Gorman's Revocable Trust, and Patricia Clark;⁷
- (2) A letter, dated October 30, 2013, addressed to the Clerk of Courts, copying Mr. William Lawrence, the executor of the Estate; and
- (3) The Complaint, dated November 14, 2013.

(*See* Wilson Dep. 45:19-23 (the October 30, 2013 letter); *id.* 47:2-6 (the July 11, 2013 letter); *id.* 54:17-22 (the Complaint)).⁸

The strict statutory deadline to present a claim against Mr. Gorman's estate expired on July 20, 2013. Only the July 11, 2013 letter, sent on trial counsel's letterhead, predates that deadline. (Supp. 3.) As Wilson admitted directly to the Trial Court, Mr. Lawrence

⁷ The July 11, 2013 letter is included in Appellant's Supplement at Supp-3.

⁸ *See* Plaintiff's Answers to Defendant's Interrogatories at 7, Ex. 3 to R.18 (Answer Number 9, listing those three documents); *see also id.* at 12 (sworn verification by James Wilson); Wilson Dep. 42:8-44:1 (confirming that Mr. Wilson is not aware of other attempts to present his claim).

was appointed as executor of the Estate on July 1, 2013.⁹ Wilson further admitted that the July 11, 2013 letter was “not sent to Mr. Lawrence [at his] address.” (See Plaintiff’s Responses to Defendant’s Requests for Admission at 4 (Request for Admission 3), Ex. 4 to R.18.) Moreover, as Wilson admitted at his deposition, “the name William Lawrence appear[s] nowhere on th[e] letter.” (Wilson Dep. 48:11-13, *see also* Supp. 3.)

Throughout the course of this lawsuit, Wilson has acknowledged that he was required by law to send his claim to the executor of the Estate in writing.¹⁰ He has sought to excuse his admitted failure to do so by claiming that he did not know the identity of the executor prior to sending the July 11, 2013 letter to Mr. Myeroff and Ms. Clark, neither of whom has ever been appointed executor. Mr. Myeroff, after receiving the July 11, 2013 letter, forwarded it to Mr. Lawrence. (Deposition of Randall S. Myeroff (“Myeroff Dep.”), Ex. 5 to R.18, 10:14-11:8.)

Wilson and his trial counsel admitted that the reason the July 11, 2013 letter was not sent directly to Mr. Lawrence was that they “were unaware of the name or address of the Executor, or whether Mr. Gorman’s Estate had been opened” (See R.8, Affidavit of Robert DeMarco at ¶3, Supp. 1.) Reasonable diligence, however, could have helped them figure it out. Indeed, at least five other claimants were able to identify the executor timely and present their claims against the Estate. (See Docket from Cuyahoga County Probate Case No. 2013-EST-190270 as of Sept. 8, 2014, Ex. 6 to R.18.)

C. The Eighth District Court of Appeals’s Erroneous Decision.

On February 6, 2015, Wilson appealed to the Eighth District Court of Appeals, claiming that the Trial Court incorrectly granted summary judgment to the Estate. (I.1.) Wilson

⁹ See Plaintiff’s Opposition to the Estate’s Motion to Dismiss, R.8 at 4.

¹⁰ For example, in his Opposition to the Estate’s Motion to Dismiss, Wilson claimed that he “chose § 2117.06 (A)(1)(a)” in trying to present his claim against the Estate and argued that the July 11, 2013 letter met the requirement that the claim be sent “to the executor or administrator” of the Estate “in a writing.” See R.8 at 4.

argued on appeal that he properly presented his claim because he wrote a letter with the salutation “to the executor” on it that was, by happenstance, later received by the executor within six months of Mr. Gorman’s death.¹¹ (See I.3 at ii.) The Estate argued, as it does here, that the Trial Court’s decision should have been affirmed because Wilson failed to meet his burden of presentment under Ohio Rev. Code 2117.06 when he failed to ascertain who or where the executor was and failed to deliver his claim to the executor prior to the six month deadline in Rev. Code § 2117.06(B)-(C). (See I.6 at 5-15.) Instead, the Estate explained, Wilson sent his letter to two individuals who were not representatives of the Estate and relied on them to present his claim for him. (*Id.*)

On November 12, 2015, a panel majority of the Eighth District reversed the Trial Court’s order granting summary judgment to the Estate. (I.8; Appendix at Appx-30.) The majority held that a plaintiff with a claim against a decedent’s estate can meet his burden under Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A)(1)(a) to “present” his claim “[t]o the executor” when he delivers his claim only to third parties, never appointed as executors, who then forward the claim to the court-appointed executor. (See *id.* at ¶23 (applying a “*softened*” standard to the presentment requirements” of Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06) (emphasis added).) Judge Boyle dissented, explaining that the majority’s holding “essentially shifts the standard from presentment to one of knowledge” and that such a “shift contravenes well-established precedent.” (*Id.* at ¶32.)

¹¹ The salutation on the July 11, 2013 letter, addressed to and mailed only to Ms. Clark and Mr. Myeroff, listed the unnamed “executor” along with several other categories of persons, including the putative and apparently unknown “heirs, administrators, or executors of the Estate of; and the trustees or beneficiaries of the trust of; or any other creditors or interested persons in the proceeds of the Trust and/or Estate of Joseph T. Gorman, deceased.” (See R.22, Ex.3, Supp. 3.) That letter was not a case of a mistaken address but a total failure to ascertain the identify of any of the parties involved.

On December 28, 2015, the Estate timely filed a Notice of Appeal and Memorandum in Support of Jurisdiction with this Court in accordance with S.Ct. Prac. R. 7.01(A)(6), which resulted in Case No. 2015-2081. (Appx-1.) On January 26, 2016, Wilson filed a memorandum opposing jurisdiction. On March 23, 2016, this Court accepted jurisdiction and ordered briefing on the proposition of law set forth in the Estate's memorandum.

D. The Certified Conflict.

On November 23, 2015, the Estate moved to certify a conflict between the Eighth District's decision and the Fourth District Court of Appeals case *Jackson v. Stevens*, 4th Dist. Case No. 1231, 1980 WL 350961. (I.9.) Wilson opposed the Estate's motion, and the Estate replied. (I.10-11.)

On January 28, 2016, the Eight District granted the Estate's motion to certify a conflict, certifying the following question for review to this Court:

Whether R.C. 2117.06 allows for substantial compliance in the presentment requirements for a claim against an estate. If so, whether a plaintiff with a claim against a decedent's estate can meet his burden under R.C. 2117.06(A)(1)(a) to "present" his claim "[t]o the executor or administrator in writing" when the claimant presents the claim to someone other than the fiduciary, who then submits the claim to the fiduciary within the statutory time-frame under R.C. 2117.06.

(Appx-45.) On February 5, 2016, the Estate timely provided notice to this Court that the Eighth District had certified a conflict between its decision and the decision in *Jackson v. Stevens*, resulting in Case No. 2016-0180. (Appx-4.)

On March 23, 2016, this Court accepted the certified question for review and consolidated the certified question case with the Estate's jurisdictional appeal.

ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF PROPOSITION OF LAW AND ARGUMENT REGARDING CERTIFIED QUESTION OF LAW

Proposition Of Law No. 1: A plaintiff with a claim against a decedent's estate can meet his burden under Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A)(1)(a) to "present" his claim "[t]o the executor or administrator in writing" only when he identifies the executor and delivers his claim to him; similarly, a claimant cannot meet his burden when he delivers his claim only to third parties, never appointed as executors, who then forward the claim to the court-appointed executor.

Certified Question of Law: Whether R.C. 2117.06 allows for substantial compliance in the presentment requirements for a claim against an estate. If so, whether a plaintiff with a claim against a decedent's estate can meet his burden under R.C. 2117.06(A)(1)(a) to "present" his claim "[t]o the executor or administrator in writing" when the claimant presents the claim to someone other than the fiduciary, who then submits the claim to the fiduciary within the statutory time-frame under R.C. 2117.06.

A. The Plain Text and Meaning of Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A)(1)(a).

For decades, the Ohio Probate Code has spelled out exactly the means by which creditors may present their claims against decedents' estates.¹² Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A) sets out specific "manners" by which creditors must present their claims against an estate:

(A) *All creditors having claims against an estate*, including claims arising out of contract, out of tort, on cognovit notes, or on judgments, whether due or not due, secured or unsecured, liquidated or unliquidated, *shall present their claims in one of the following manners*:

- (1) After the appointment of an executor or administrator and prior to the filing of a final account or a certificate of termination, in one of the following manners:
 - (a) To the executor or administrator in a writing;
 - (b) To the executor or administrator in a writing, and to the probate court by filing a copy of the writing with it;

¹² The Proposition of Law in the jurisdictional appeal and the Certified Question of Law address the same issue – i.e., whether the statute is a substantial compliance statute or one that sets out specific means of presentment. Therefore, this merit brief presents a single argument section, rather than two repetitive and overlapping arguments.

- (c) In a writing that is sent by ordinary mail addressed to the decedent and that is actually received by the executor or administrator within the appropriate time specified in division (B) of this section. For purposes of this division, if an executor or administrator is not a natural person, the writing shall be considered as being actually received by the executor or administrator only if the person charged with the primary responsibility of administering the estate of the decedent actually receives the writing within the appropriate time specified in division (B) of this section.
- (2) If the final account or certificate of termination has been filed, in a writing to those distributees of the decedent's estate who may share liability for the payment of the claim.

Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A) (emphasis added).

1. The Word “Shall” Imposes a Mandatory Obligation.

The use of the word “shall” in Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A), as in any statute, creates a **mandatory obligation**. *See Dorrian v. Scioto Conservancy Dist.*, 27 Ohio St.2d 102 (1971), syl. ¶1 (“In statutory construction, . . . the word ‘shall’ shall be construed as mandatory unless there appears a clear and unequivocal legislative intent that [it] receive a construction other than [its] ordinary usage.”); *see also State ex rel. Cincinnati Enquirer v. Lyons*, 140 Ohio St. 3d 7, 2014–Ohio–2354, ¶27–28 (applying the mandatory meaning of “shall” to R.C. 2953.32 and 2953.52). Thus, Ohio Rev. Code 2117.06(A) **mandates** that creditors present their claims using one of the three “manners” listed in subsections (1)(a) through (1)(c).

The repeated use of “shall” in subsections (B) and (C) of Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06 underscores that the legislature intended for Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A) to impose a mandatory obligation on the claimant. Subsection (B) provides that “all claims **shall be presented** within six months after the death of the decedent . . . whether or not an executor is appointed during that six-month period.” (emphasis added). Subsection (C) further mandates that any claim “not presented within six months after the death of the decedent **shall be forever**

barred as to all parties.” (emphasis added). The statute thus makes it “clear that the time within which claims are to be presented is *mandatory*.” *Soc'y Nat'l Bank v. Johnson*, 8th Dist. No. 72002, 1997 WL 781741, *2 (Ohio Ct. App. Dec. 18, 1997) (emphasis added). The word “shall,” as used in subsection (A) to specify the “manners” for a creditor to present a claim, likewise imposes a mandatory obligation on creditors to present their putative claims in “one of the manners” prescribed by the statute.

2. Ohio Rev. Code § 2117.06(A)(1)(a) Establishes a Specific, Mandatory Means of Presentment, Not an Illustration of a Sufficient Means of Presentment.

Subsection (A)(1)(a) of Rev. Code 2117.06, the subsection at issue in this case, provides as follows:

(A) All creditors having claims against an estate. . . *shall present* their claims *in one of the following manners*:

(1) After the appointment of an executor or administrator and prior to the filing of a final account or a certificate of termination . . .

. . .

(a) *To the executor or administrator in a writing.*

Ohio Rev. Code 2117.06(A) (emphasis added). More succinctly, to comply with subsection (A)(1)(a), the provision mandates that a creditor “shall present” his claim “[t]o the executor.” *Id.* The “creditors” – and not anyone else – “shall” present the claim, and they “shall” present it “to the executor” – and to no one else. Further, the statute requires that a creditor “shall present” his claim in “one of” the “manners” in subsections (1)(a)-(c) or, if applicable, the manner in

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