IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO CASE NOS. 2015-2081 and 2016-0180

JAMES A. WILSON, *Appellee*,

v.

WILLIAM LAWRENCE, Executor, Appellant,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CUYAHOGA COUNTY COURT OF APPEALS EIGHTH APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. CA-15-102585

CONSOLIDATED MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLEE JAMES A. WILSON

James A. Goldmith, Esq. (0021899)
Matthew T. Wholey, Esq. (0086550)
(COUNSEL OF RECORD)
ULMER & BERNE LLP
Skylight Office Tower
1660 West 2nd Street, Suite 1100
Cleveland, Ohio 44113-1448
jgoldsmith@ulmer.com
mwholey@ulmer.com

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

Consistent with *Moore* and *Edens*, the Eighth District held that if either the Executor or the attorney for the Estate received the claim prior to the deadline, then, the claim was timely presented to the executor pursuant to R.C. 2117.06. *Wilson v. Lawrence*, 2015-Ohio-4677 (8th Dist.), ¶24.

C. <u>Timely Receipt of a Written Claim Notice is Sufficient and Such Notice Need Not be in any Particular Form.</u>

While Ohio law is strict on the time and notice elements of presentment, the *form* of the presentment has been less rigidly considered. *Children's Med. Ctr. v. Ward*, 87 Ohio App.3d 504, 509 (2nd Dist. 1993). In meeting one of the three requirements of R.C. 2117.06(A), "[a] claim against a decedent's estate *need not be in any particular form*; it is sufficient if it states the character and amount of the claim, enables the representatives to provide for its payment, and serves to bar all other claims by reason of its particularity of designation." *Id.* at 510. (Emphasis added).

Clearly, R.C. 2117.06(A)(1) imposes no strict form requirement for presentment of a claim. *Id.* Claims need only be "in a writing" and "presented" to the "executor or administrator" within the statutory time in R.C. 2117.06(B). *Id.* The evidence here shows that Wilson's Claim Notice Letter was received by the Executor and counsel for the Estate prior to the end of the 6 month statutory period, and thus met the time and notice requirements.

In *Children's Med. Ctr. v. Ward*, 87 Ohio App.3d 504, 509 (2nd Dist. 1993), the decedent died on April 25, 1990. Defendant was appointed administrator of the estate on May 8, 1990. In that same month, the administrator *received* three computer generated billing statements from plaintiff, which included plaintiff's name, address, the amount due and the responsible party. The court determined that plaintiff's presentment was valid under R.C. 2117.06(A)(1) "because the claim was timely sent, in a writing, to the administrator, and because under all of the prevailing circumstances, the notice to the administrator in her personal capacity constituted notice to the administrator in her capacity as fiduciary of the estate. She could not have been unaware of [plaintiff's] intention to seek payment from the decedent's estate."

Wilson's claim prior to the running of the 6 month limitations period, as they had the Claim Notice Letter in their possession prior to the expiration of such period.

In *Children's Med. Ctr.*, the court relied upon *Fortelka v. Meifert* (1964), 176 Ohio St. 476. In *Fortelka*, supra, this Court recognized that the method of presentment contemplated by R.C. 2117.06 does not preclude "another equally efficient method for the presentation of claims." *There is no required method for presentment*. Timely receipt of a claim notice is sufficient under R.C. 2117.06.

Timely receipt of the claim notice by the attorney for an estate, which also occurred in this matter, has also been deemed proper notice under R.C. 2117.06. In *Peoples Natl. Bank v. Treon*, 16 Ohio App.3d 410, 411 (2nd Dist. 1984), a claim against an estate was presented to the attorney appointed by the estate's executor. The claim was captioned "Claim against Estate," and was addressed to the attorney "for the Estate of ..." The court held that a claim against an estate is properly presented where the claim is presented to the attorney appointed by the executor of the estate to represent him or her in the administration of the estate, despite the fact that the executor did not receive notice of the claim until after the time allowed by R.C. 2117.06. In the instant matter, the attorney for the Estate received Wilson's Claim Notice Letter prior to the 6 month statutory period.

It is axiomatic that the form of presentment is not strictly prescribed. The claim need not be in any particular form; it is sufficient if it states the character and amount of the claim, enables the representative to provide for its payment, and serves to bar all other claims by reason of its particularity of designation. *Gladman v. Carns*, 9 Ohio App.2d 135, 138 (2nd Dist. 1964). It has previously been determined that a claim notice which is "actually received" by the executor or administrator meets the requirements of R.C. 2117.06. See *Children's Medical Center v. Ward*, supra, at 510. Here, not only did the Executor "actually receive" the claim notice within the

statutory period, but also, the Estate's attorney "actually received" the notice within such period. A claim presented to the executor's attorney satisfies the statutory presentment requirements. *See Peoples Natl. Bank v. Treon*, 16 Ohio App.3d 410, syllabus (2nd Dist. 1984).

There is no legal precedent precluding service of the claim notice through a third party. In fact, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed a summary judgment ruling in such a case. In Hart v. Johnston, 389 F.2d 239 (6th Cir. 1968), at the time of decedent's death, the decedent Hatley was indebted to the plaintiff for the sum of approximately \$13,000, the balance owing on a loan. Defendant was appointed administrator of Hatley's estate. An accountant had been engaged in taking care of the books of the Hatley business, Hatley's Harley-Davidson Sales, and continued in the business' employ by the administrator, to provide the same service for him as administrator of the Hatley estate. Subsequent to Hatley's death, plaintiff, not knowing of this event, attempted to correspond with decedent by letter addressed to his place of business. Mr. Gaab, the said accountant, answered plaintiff's letter, informing plaintiff of Hatley's death. Plaintiff and Gaab thereafter continued to correspond, and in one letter to Gaab plaintiff requested: "Please do the best you can, take care of my part as you would want me to do if we changed places and I will be satisfied." Gaab notified the administrator of plaintiff's debt within the statutory period. After the statutory period for presentment had passed, defendant invoked the statute of limitations set forth in R.C. 2117.06, and notified plaintiff that the claim was rejected.

The Sixth Circuit determined that there were issues of material fact not appropriate for summary judgment as to whether the claim was presented to the administrator and reversed a summary judgment ruling in favor of the administrator. In doing so, the Sixth Circuit stated:

Since the law does not require a claimant or litigant to do a vain thing, the mandatory provisions of the statute requiring presentation in writing to the personal representative of claims against the estate he represents, are said to be quite uniformly softened and not enjoined when the application of such provisions would run contrary to reason and common sense. Hart v. Johnston,

389 F.2d 239 (6th Cir. 1968). (Emphasis added).

Notions of reason and common sense dictate that if an executor receives a proper written claim notice within the statutory period, then the claimant should not be time barred under R.C. 2117.06.

Here, we have a Claim Notice Letter: (1) setting forth the character and amount of the claim – a breach of a contract related to the sale of Marine 1 LLC in the approximate amount of \$200,000; (2) enabling the representative to provide for payment – the notice was on the letterhead of Wilson's counsel and requested that the recipients contact counsel to discuss the matter; (3) serving to bar all other claims due to its particularity of designation – the notice is sufficiently particular and encloses the subject Agreement; (4) in writing – the notice was written; (5) presented to the executor – the Executor and counsel for the Estate received it; and (6) presented within the statutory time period – the notice was received within 6 months of the date of death of decedent by the Executor and attorney for the Estate.

No case has provided that a claimant is precluded from advancing its claim for presenting the notice through a third party. The only requirement is that the notice be presented within the statutory framework of R.C. 2117.06. Here, both the Executor and counsel for the Estate received the notice prior to the end of the 6 month limitations period. Consequently, there can be no dispute as to whether they were timely presented with the claim.

D. The Estate's Position that the Eighth District's Decision will Lead to Inefficient Administration of Estates Lacks Merit.

The Estate argues that the Eighth District's decision in *Wilson v. Lawrence*, 2015-Ohio-4677 (8th Dist.), cannot be squared away with either purpose of R.C. 2117.06(A)-(C) – i.e., to facilitate the prompt and efficient administration of estates – or the longstanding principle that it is incumbent upon the claimant to find the executor and deliver his claim to him. First, the Estate fails to recognize the simple truth that timely receipt of the written claim notice has

absolutely no detrimental effect on the prompt and efficient administration of the estate. Second, in this case, the claim notice was timely delivered to the Executor and therefore, the claimant's duty was satisfied. Thus, both purposes of R.C. 2117.06, as contended by the Estate, have been fulfilled.

In the case of *In re Estate of Heider*, 2010-Ohio-4820, ¶13 (3rd. Dist. 2010), the court stated that "the purpose of R.C. 2117.06 is to put both creditors and the Estate on notice that claims need to be filed in a timely manner in order to facilitate the settling of the Estate in a reasonable amount of time." Consistent with these pronouncements, we see that R.C. 2117.06 does *not* require that the executor be named in the writing; nor that it be sent to any particular address; nor that it be sent through the mail; nor that the writing be directly delivered to the executor by the claimant himself. The purpose of R.C. 2117.06 is to notify the Estate of potential claims in a timely manner. Such purpose is unequivocally achieved when the Estate receives the written claim notice within the statutory period.

The cases upon which Estate relies upon are inapposite to this matter. For the basis of the Estate's argument that Wilson has not fulfilled his duty under R.C. 2117.06, the Estate relies upon *In re Estate of Greer*, 2011-Ohio-6721 (1st Dist.), *In re Estate of Curry*, 2009-Ohio-6571 (10th Dist.) and *Reid v. Premier Health Care Servs., Inc.*, 2nd Dist. No 17437, 1999WL 148191 (Mar. 19, 1999). All of these cases are clearly distinguishable from the present matter.

In the case of *In re Estate of Greer*, 2011-Ohio-6721 (1st Dist.), there was *no notice* of the subject claim whatsoever to the executor *prior to the 6 month limitation period*. The decedent, Joan C. Greer, died on December 9, 2008. The claimant did not notify the estate of its claim until it attempted to open Greer's estate on March 18, 2010, well after the applicable 6 month term for presentment. In fact, there was no executor ever in place prior to the 6 month period. In the instant matter, the Executor had been appointed and had been presented with the

claim within the applicable statutory period.

In the case of *In re Estate of Curry*, 2009-Ohio-6571 (10th Dist.), the decedent passed away on December 22, 2007, leaving an unpaid balance to his medical facility. The medical facility submitted a notice of claim within 6 months, but *before* any executor or administrator was appointed. The administrator was not appointed until more than a year after the decedent's death, and therefore the claimant could not have presented a claim to the executor within the time period specified in R.C. 2117.06. In the instant matter, the Executor was appointed by the probate court prior to receiving notice of the claim.

Reid v. Premier Health Care Servs., Inc., 2nd Dist. No 17437, 1999WL 148191 (Mar. 19, 1999) involved a similar fact pattern, and since the administrator was not appointed for more than one year after the decedent's death, the claimant could not comply with R.C. 2117.06. These cases are not relevant to these proceedings, since there was no executor or administrator appointed until after the limitations period.

Likewise, the Estate's persistent argument that Wilson failed to present his claim "to the executor" is unfitting. The written Claim Notice Letter was addressed as follows: "To the heirs, administrators or executors of the Estate of; and the trustees or beneficiaries of the trust of; or any other creditors or interested persons in the proceeds of the Trust and/or Estate of Joseph T. Gorman Deceased." Timely presentment to the Executor and attorney for the Estate through third parties (the decedent's trustee and business manager), is not a basis to preclude Wilson's claim under R.C. 2117.06.

Preventing service of notices through third parties is a very slippery slope. Almost all manners of service under the Civil Rules are through third parties. Civ.R. 4.1(A) provides methods of service through the clerk of courts via certified mail, express mail or a commercial carrier service. Civ.R. 4.1(B) and (C) provide methods of service through the sheriff, bailiff or

the clerk. The principal purpose of service is notice. A great burden will be placed upon our courts if we are no longer permitted to provide service through third parties.

The main purpose and goal of any type of service is receipt thereof. The Estate relies upon cases which provide that where a plaintiff fails to complete service of process in accordance with one of the methods provided in Civ.R. 4.1, it simply does not matter that a party has actual knowledge of the lawsuit. However, the Estate fails to recognize that service was actually completed upon the Estate under R.C. 2117.06 when it timely received Wilson's written notice of claim. If the Estate only had verbal notice from the trustee or business manager that there was a claim notice from Wilson, maybe it would have an argument. However, the Estate had in its possession the actual written claim notice prior to the end of the limitations period.

Lastly, there was no need for Wilson to set up Gorman's Estate under *Winkle v. Trabert* (1963), 174 Ohio St. 233, 188 N.E.2d 587. The *Winkle* Court held that where one has a claim against an estate, it is incumbent upon him, if no administrator or executor has been appointed, to procure the appointment of an administrator against whom he can proceed. *Id.* at 237-38. Since an executor had already been appointed at the time Wilson served his claim's notice, *Winkle* is inapplicable.

E. No Conflict Exists.

The Estate based its motion to certify a conflict upon *Jackson v. Stevens*, 4th Dist. No. CA 1231, 1980 WL 350961 (4th Dist. 1980). *Jackson* involved a 2-1 unreported summary opinion out of the Fourth District. Although it is not clear from the opinion, it appears that the claimant in *Jackson* sent her claim notice to a person that she mistakenly believed was the executor. The claimant then initiated suit against this supposed third party executor, and when the claimant was apprised of her error she attempted to bring suit against the actual executor well after the statutory period of R.C. 2117.06. Consequently, the claim was rejected as being filed untimely

under R.C. 2117.06. *Jackson* should not be used as a basis for a motion to certify since its facts are unclear, its record is undeveloped and its findings are vague. Also, R.C. 2503.20 has been relied upon as the basis for denying a motion to certify where there was claimed to be a conflict with an unreported case. *See Bevan v. Century Realty Co.*, 64 Ohio App. 58 (7th Dist. 1940); *In re Rhodell Washington*, 94-LW-5816, Case No. 65755 (8th Dist. 1994).

Further, *Jackson* does not identify the form of the claim notice and thus it is difficult to reconcile its facts with the facts herein. Consequently, it is unlikely that the claim notice was addressed to the "heirs, administrators or executors of the Estate of; and the trustees or beneficiaries of the trust of; or any other creditors or interested persons in the proceeds of the Trust and/or Estate" as it was in the instant case. It also appears that there were communications regarding the claim in *Jackson* with the attorney for the estate. However, *Jackson* predated *Peoples Natl. Bank v. Treon*, 16 Ohio App.3d 410 (2nd Dist. 1984), which held that a claim against an estate is properly presented where the claim is presented to the attorney appointed by the executor of the estate to represent them in the administration of the estate, despite the fact that the executor did not receive notice of the claim until after the time allowed by R.C. 2117.06.

Lastly, there can be no conflict since the Fourth District effectively overruled *Jackson* in *Reckner v. Armstrong*, 83-LW-0956 (4th Dist. 1983), and this Court effectively overruled *Jackson* in *Edens v. Barberton* (1989), 43 Ohio St.3d 176, 539 N.E.2d 1124.

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